ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAY -2 2016

SC SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Berkeley County

Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

DONSURVI CHISOLM,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-001735

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LAURA R. BAER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I.

Whether the PCR court erred in finding plea counsel effective where plea counsel impeded Petitioner's right to represent himself under the federal and state constitutions?

II.

Whether the PCR court erred in finding plea counsel effective where plea counsel failed to advise Petitioner of the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction

Petitioner DonSurvi Chisolm said that the unfortunate shooting death of his nephew, M.S., in this case occurred when the weapon in his hand “went off” either before or after he started to drop it and that “it was just an accident, period.” App. 71, l. 25 – 72, l. 8. Chisolm had represented himself at a trial on an unrelated offense in another county and was granted leave to proceed *pro se* in the instant case in April 2011. App. 75, l. 23 – 76, l. 23. During an administrative meeting in November 2011, the solicitor’s office indicated that it may file a notice of intent to seek the death penalty in Chisolm’s case. Upon hearing that, Circuit Public Defender Ashley Pennington took it upon himself to visit Chisolm in prison, aimed at “saving” Chisolm from the death penalty and unconcerned about his *pro se* status. App. 86, l. 6 – 87, l. 15. Chisolm reasonably understood from Pennington’s visit that because of the possibility of the death penalty, he could no longer represent himself and that Pennington would represent him going forward. App. 76, l. 20 – 77, l. 14; see also App. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 12.

The PCR Court erred in denying Chisolm’s application for post-conviction relief. Plea counsel Pennington rendered effective assistance by impeding Chisolm’s right to represent himself by leading Chisolm to believe that he could not represent himself in a capital case. He was further ineffective in failing to discuss the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter. App. 73, l. 23 – 75, l. 22; App. 110, l. 17 – 112, l. 1; App. 113, l. 13 – 114, l. 12. Had Chisolm proceeded to trial and presented the testimony that he did at the PCR hearing, he would have been entitled to a jury charge on involuntary manslaughter. See State v. Mekler, 379 S.C. 12, 15, 664 S.E.2d 477,

478 (2008). Instead, following Pennington's advice, Chisolm entered an Alford¹ plea to murder for the death of M.S. App. 1 – 38.

Indictment and Plea Hearing

On June 16, 2010, the Berkeley County Grand Jury indicted Chisolm for murder, assault and battery with intent to kill (“ABWIK”), and possession of a firearm during the commission of a violent crime. App. 131 – 140 (Indictments). These charges related to a shooting that injured his brother, Dansa Chisolm, and killed his fourteen year old nephew, M.S.

On October 16, 2012, Chisolm appeared before the Honorable R. Markley Dennis and entered an Alford plea as to the murder charge and guilty pleas as to the ABWIK and weapons charges. Chisolm was represented by Ashley Pennington and the State was represented by Solicitor Scarlett Wilson. The plea judge accepted Chisolm's pleas and imposed the negotiated concurrent sentences of life imprisonment for murder, twenty years for ABWIK, and five years for the weapons offense. App. 1 – 38.

Post-Conviction Relief Application and Evidentiary Hearing

On February 18, 2013, Chisolm filed an application for post-conviction relief (“PCR”). App. 40. On August 18, 2014, he filed an Amendment to his PCR application. App. 47. On December 9, 2014, the State filed its Return. App. 49.

On February 19, 2015, an evidentiary hearing was held before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr. Chisolm was represented by Rodney Davis and the State was represented by Assistant Attorney General Ashleigh Wilson. App. 56. Both Chisolm and plea counsel, Ashley Pennington, testified at the hearing. Among other allegations, Chisolm presented testimony relevant to his claims that plea counsel was ineffective in impeding his right to proceed *pro se* and failing to advise

¹ North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S.Ct. 160 (1970).

him of all of the possible lesser-included offenses, specifically **involuntary** manslaughter. App. 110, l. 17 – 112, l. 1; App. 113, l. 13 – 114, l. 12.

Plea counsel Pennington testified that in the fall of 2011 he attended a status conference, where the solicitor's office was discussing the status of some of the older cases. Solicitor Wilson "announced that there was a case where the defendant was *pro se*, a DonSurvi Chisolm, where she was intending to file a notice to seek the death penalty." App. 86, ll. 6-17. The solicitor "suspected that he was going to need representation if that occurred." App. 86, ll. 17-18. Pennington learned that deputy public defender Patty Kennedy had represented Chisolm and that, after a series of hearings, she was relieved because Chisolm "opted to go *pro se*." App. 86, ll. 19-25.

Nevertheless, Pennington drove to Lieber Correctional Institution to meet with Chisolm, who was serving a life sentence for a separate murder conviction. Pennington wanted to "sit down with him and make sure that he understood the stakes that he was facing and that the State had stated to me, what seemed to be an authentic intent of seeking the death penalty." App. 87, ll. 1-8. Plea counsel described his meeting with Chisolm:

So, we met in the large visitation room there at the Lieber Correctional. I explained who I was. I explained that I was aware that he was acting *pro se*. I expressed my concern that because of the fact that the State was going to seek the death penalty, that he, in all probability, needed representation, and was he interested in having representation. I asked him that question.

App. 87, ll. 9-15. According to Pennington, Chisolm said that he was interested in representation. App. 87, ll. 16-23. Pennington sent an e-mail to the solicitor on December 20, 2011, indicating that Chisolm "is now requesting me [to] represent him on his Berkeley murder/ABWIK/pistol charges. I will ask Judge Dennis to reappoint our office while he is here January 3rd." App. 88, ll. 8-21. Pennington then filed a notice of appearance, though he never

sought a formal appointment by the court and no hearing was conducted to reverse the order allowing Chisolm to proceed *pro se*. App. 88, l. 22 – 89, l. 11; App. 108, l. 24 – 109, l. 12.

Chisolm explained that after representing himself at trial for an unrelated offense in Dorchester County, he again sought to proceed *pro se* in the instant Berkeley County case. After three hearings, Chisolm's motion to relieve his public defender and proceed *pro se* was granted. App. 75, l. 23 – 76, l. 23. In December 2011, the same month that Chisolm's case was set to go to trial, Pennington visited him at the prison. Chisolm testified:

[Plea counsel] Pennington . . . informed me that, obviously, I wasn't going to trial, and that the State would possibly be seeking the death penalty. He also informed me that he was -- or made me believe that he was sent with the approval of Judge Dennis and that he possibly would be taking over my case.

From there, he actually took over my case. I never actually asked that Ashley Pennington take over my case. I never went in open court and requested that the judge take away my *pro se* status or reassign me a public defender. As far as I was made aware, through Ashley Pennington, he was kind of approved by Judge Dennis to take over my case. And they just took over my case. They just stopped my *pro se* status.

App. 76, l. 20 – 77, l. 14; see also App. 83, l. 24 – 84, l. 12. Chisolm confirmed that he was adamant about proceeding *pro se* and had not contacted the court, the public defender's office, or any private attorney about retaining an attorney. App. 77, ll. 15-24. Further, he testified that had Pennington not shown up and told him that he was assuming representation, he would have represented himself at his trial and would not have accepted a plea offer. App. 77, l. 25 – 78, l. 23.

Chisolm also described the witness statements related to the incident and how the incident actually occurred. Chisolm was renting a house, in which his brother Dansa Chisolm and his nephew M.S., Dansa's son, were residing with him. App. 69, ll. 15 – 22; App. 70, l. 3. Chisolm testified that Kristen Graves and Russell Kapinski both confirmed that Dansa started an argument with Chisolm over some music they were working on together. Chisolm tried to get away from his

brother on multiple occasions by either going outside or into another room. Russell Kapinski brought two guns into the kitchen area. Dansa took one of them and Chisolm took the other to protect himself. Dansa tried to take the gun from Chisolm, so Chisolm locked himself in another room. Dansa, who Chisolm believed was still armed, kept coming to the door and yelling at Chisolm. Chisolm eventually came out of the room and he shot Dansa. Chisolm testified that he was “in fear” “the whole time.” After he shot Dansa, the two had a physical altercation resulting in the dislocation of Chisolm’s shoulder. App. 69, l. 15 – 72, l. 14.

Regarding the shooting of his nephew, Petitioner said:

[W]hen I was getting away from him [Dansa Chisolm], backing away from him, I heard a loud noise to the left – I’m sorry, to my right. While I was backing up, I backed into something and turning at the same time. I’m not actually sure -- because we were all intoxicated at the time -- if the weapon in my hand went off first while I was dropping it or if I started to drop it and it went off. But that is when my nephew got shot. That was an accident, you know. It was just an accident, period.

App. 71, l. 25 – 72, l. 8. The three potential witnesses who were at the house at the time of the incident, Kristen Graves, Russell Kapinski, and Clint Kapinski, gave conflicting statements about the M.S.’s shooting. Russell Kapinski said that he saw Chisolm shoot his brother and then heard a second shot. When he went into the living room, he saw that M.S. was shot in his upper neck, but no one else was around. App. 92, l. 23 – 94, l. 1. Kristen Graves alleged that Chisolm shot M.S. when he “came into the kitchen asking Mr. Chisolm why he had shot his father.” App. 94, ll. 3-14. Clint Kapinski claimed that he did not witness the shooting. App. 94, ll. 21-25.

According to plea counsel Pennington, there was “some confusion” over who shot M.S. App. 92, ll. 1-7; App. 95, l. 22 – 96, l. 4; App. 101, ll. 14-16. Though Chisolm acknowledged that he shot his brother, Dansa, he initially told Pennington that M.S. was shot by Clint Kapinski.

App. 91, ll. 3-7. Pennington claimed that Chisolm never told him that the shooting of M.S. was an accident. App. 101, ll. 14-20; App. 105, ll. 2-13.

Chisolm said that Pennington did not discuss the defense of accident or the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter with him. Notably, the maximum sentence for involuntary manslaughter is only five years, as opposed to the sentencing range for murder of thirty years to life. App. 73, l. 23 – 75, l. 22; App. 79, ll. 9-24. Plea counsel never testified that he discussed involuntary manslaughter with Chisolm. Rather, they discussed “self-defense and voluntary manslaughter as potential matters, because that’s just sort of the standard boilerplate of our practice.” App. 95, ll. 3-9.

Order of Dismissal

On July 14, 2015, Judge Griffith entered an Order of Dismissal denying Chisolm’s PCR application. App. 118 – 130. The PCR judge plea counsel “adequately conferred with the Applicant, conducted a proper investigation, and provided thorough representation.” App. 126. Despite the specific allegation that plea counsel failed to discuss *involuntary* manslaughter, the PCR judge noted plea counsel’s testimony that they discussed self-defense and voluntary manslaughter and found that Chisolm failed to show that plea counsel’s performance was deficient. App. 128 – 129.

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court erred in finding plea counsel effective where plea counsel impeded Petitioner's right to represent himself under the federal and state constitutions.

Plea counsel Pennington had no more right to impose his paternal instinct against self-representation than a trial court has in the face of a defendant's Faretta² motion. See State v. Barnes, 407 S.C. 27, 35-36, 753 S.E.2d 545, 550 (2014) ("Recognizing that it may be to the defendant's detriment to be allowed to proceed *pro se*, his knowing, intelligent and voluntary decision 'must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.'" (citing Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975))). Pennington failed to explain to Chisolm that he could still represent himself in a capital trial and it was not unreasonable for Chisolm to believe that Pennington was conveying to him that he was being appointed to Chisolm's case because the State was now considering the death penalty. Further, regardless of Pennington's status as a public defender, it was improper of him to approach Chisolm about representation after Chisolm had successfully moved to relieve the public defender's office and proceed *pro se*. See Rule 7.3(b)(1), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR ("A lawyer shall not solicit professional employment from a prospective client . . . by in person . . . contact even when not otherwise prohibited by paragraph (a), if: the prospective client has made known to the lawyer a desire not to be solicited by the lawyer . . ."). But for Pennington's involvement in the case, Chisolm would have represented himself at trial and would not have accepted a plea offer. App. 76, l. 14 – 78, l. 20.

A South Carolina criminal defendant has the constitutional right to represent himself under both the federal and state constitutions. State v. Starnes, 388 S.C. 590, 600, 698 S.E.2d 604, 609-10 (2010); U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI; S.C. CONST. ART. I, § 14. A capital defendant, like

² Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S.Ct. 2525 (1975).

any other criminal defendant, may waive his right to counsel. Starnes, 388 S.C. at 600, 698 S.E.2d at 609-10; State v. Brewer, 328 S.C. 117, 492 S.E.2d 97 (1997). So long as the defendant makes his request prior to trial, the only proper inquiry is that mandated by Faretta. State v. Winkler, 388 S.C. 574, 698 S.E.2d 596 (2010).

In Faretta, the United States Supreme Court reconciled a defendant's constitutional rights to effective assistance of counsel and to self-representation, explaining:

[I]t is one thing to hold that every defendant, rich or poor, has the right to the assistance of counsel, and quite another to say that a State may compel a defendant to accept a lawyer he does not want. The value of state-appointed counsel was not unappreciated by the Founders, yet the notion of compulsory counsel was utterly foreign to them. And whatever else may be said of those who wrote the Bill of Rights, surely there can be no doubt that they understood the inestimable worth of free choice.

422 U.S. at 833-34, 95 S.Ct. at 2540. The Faretta Court went on to say:

The right to defend is personal. The defendant, and not his lawyer or the State, will bear the personal consequences of a conviction. It is the defendant, therefore, who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law.

Id. at 834, 95 S.Ct. at 2540-41 (internal quotations and citations omitted). The Court ultimately determined that the trial court's imposition of state-appointed counsel upon Faretta deprived him of his constitutional right to conduct his own defense. Id. at 836, 95 S.Ct. at 2541.

In the present case, it was plea counsel rather than the court that imposed representation upon Chisolm in contravention of his constitutional rights. Prior to their meeting, Pennington was well aware that Chisolm had filed and won a motion to relieve counsel and proceed *pro se*, following multiple hearings. App. 76, l. 16 – 77, l. 6; App. 86, l. 19 – 87, l. 8. Pennington alleged that his intention in meeting with Chisolm was to “sit down with him and make sure that he understood the stakes that he was facing and that the State had stated to [him], what seemed to

be an authentic intent of seeking the death penalty.” App. 87, ll. 1-8. He then expressed to Chisolm his “concern that because of the fact that the State was going to seek the death penalty, that **he, in all probability, needed representation.**”³ App. 87, ll. 9-15 (emphasis added). According to Pennington, Chisolm “indicated immediately and unequivocally that he was interested in representation, that he was unhappy with the way things had turned out when he represented himself in Dorchester County, and that he would appreciate the assistance.” App. 87, ll. 16-23. However, Chisolm testified that Pennington lead him to believe that Judge Dennis had already approved his taking over Chisolm’s representation and “just stopped [his] *pro se* status.” App. 77, ll. 3-14; see also App. 120 – 122.

Regardless of whether Chisolm’s representation was forced or accepted, Pennington should have never contacted Chisolm in the first place. The order relieving the public defender’s office from representation was sufficient to inform plea counsel of Chisolm’s “desire not to be solicited.” See Rule 7.3(b)(1), RPC, Rule 407, SCACR (“A lawyer shall not solicit professional employment from a prospective client . . . by in person . . . contact even when not otherwise prohibited by paragraph (a), if: the prospective client has made known to the lawyer a desire not to be solicited by the lawyer . . .”). Even if Pennington’s concerns about Chisolm’s ability to

³ If Chisolm’s case was set for trial in December 2011, as he testified, then by the time plea counsel visited him on December 19, 2011, the State would not have been able to timely serve him with a notice of intention seek the death penalty. App. 76, l. 24 – 77, l. 6. A death notice must be sent at least thirty (30) days prior to the trial of the case. S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-26(A). Thus, the only way that a death notice would have been timely served was if the solicitor’s office utilized its control of the docket to delay the calling of Chisolm’s case for trial. See State v. Langford, 400 S.C. 421, 735 S.E.2d 471 (2012) (holding that the statute that vested exclusive control of the criminal docket in the circuit solicitor violated separation of powers); Andrew M. Siegel, *When Prosecutors Control Criminal Court Dockets: Dispatches on History and Policy from a Land Time Forgot*, 32 Am. J. Crim. L. 325, 351 (2005) (“There are innumerable ways in which prosecutors can use their control of the docket to gain a strategic advantage.”). Notably, the public index reflects that Chisolm filed multiple motions invoking his right to speedy trial.

represent himself in a death penalty case were genuine, a capital defendant is no less entitled to self-representation. See Brewer, 328 S.C. at 120, 492 S.E.2d at 99 (“There is no prohibition against a capital defendant knowingly and intelligently waiving the right to counsel.”).

Regarding prejudice, Chisolm testified:

As far as I believe, if Mr. Pennington never took over my case, I would have never went to a plea hearing. It would never happened. I would have still been trying to go to trial. I still would have had to research my own case. Whether I would have found the correct information or not, I don't know, but we would have been going to trial.

App. 78, ll. 4-12. Thus, Chisolm was prejudiced by Pennington's involvement in that, but for plea counsel's representation, he would not have accepted a plea offer. He would have instead represented himself at trial.

Therefore, the PCR court should have found that Pennington rendered ineffective assistance of counsel by impeding Chisolm's right to self-representation.

II. The PCR court erred in finding plea counsel effective where plea counsel failed to advise Petitioner of the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter.

Plea counsel Pennington was deficient in failing to advise Chisolm of the lesser-included offense of involuntary manslaughter. Chisolm was prejudiced because but for counsel's failure to advise him of the lesser offense, Chisolm would not have entered an Alford plea to the murder charge for the shooting death of his nephew. App. 73, l. 23 – 75, l. 22; App. 79, ll. 9-24.; see also App. 121. Pennington's testimony that they discussed voluntary manslaughter and self-defense is inconsequential to Chisolm's allegation, as involuntary manslaughter is a separate and distinct lesser included offense to murder. App. 95, ll. 3-9. Thus, the PCR court erred in finding that Chisolm "failed to meet his burden of proof" as to plea counsel's "failure to apprise Applicant of lesser included offenses." App. 128 – 129.

Pennington testified: "It was never articulated to me, as it was said today in the courtroom, that Mr. Chisolm acknowledged shooting his nephew by accident. And so that would have been interesting to pursue, but that was not presented to me." App. 109, ll. 17-20. The matter was discussed further on cross-examination and Pennington said he did not recall Chisolm later telling him "it was really me" that "fired the weapon." App. 105, ll. 2-13. Of course, even at the PCR hearing, Chisolm never said that the gun was intentionally "fired." Rather, he said the gun "went off" either as he was dropping it or when he dropped it and that it was "just an accident, period." App. 71, l. 25 – 72, l. 8.

The United States Supreme Court has held that "[g]uilty pleas are no more foolproof than full trials to the court or jury. . . . Accordingly, we take great precautions against unsound results." Brady v. United States, 397 U.S. 742, 758 (1970). An "unsound result" occurs when a defendant does not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently plead guilty. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238

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