STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Berkeley County

The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2015-001735

**RECEIVED**

AUG 17 2016

**SC SUPREME COURT**

DONSURVI CHISOLM,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JUSTIN J. HUNTER  
Assistant Attorney General  
SC Bar # 101254

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-4124

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

Petitioner argues that the PCR Court erred in failing to find Petitioner's plea counsel (hereinafter "Counsel") ineffective where Counsel allegedly impeded Petitioner's right to represent himself. Petitioner further argues that the PCR Court erred by failing to find Counsel ineffective where Counsel allegedly failed to advise Petitioner of the lesser included offense of involuntary manslaughter. For the following reasons, Respondent contends that these arguments are without merit.

### Relevant Law

In a PCR action, the petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, *supra*.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, *supra*. Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of plea counsel. Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625. First, the applicant must prove plea counsel's performance was deficient. Id. Under this prong, the Court measures plea counsel's performance by its "reasonableness under prevailing professional norms." Id. (citing Strickland,

466 U.S. at 688). Second, plea counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Id. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. Because Petitioner pled under Alford, he must show there is a reasonable probability that, but for plea counsel's alleged errors, he would not have pled guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

**I. The issue of whether Counsel was ineffective for impeding Petitioner's right to represent himself is not preserved for appellate review. Nonetheless this argument is without merit.**

How the Issue Was Raised

Petitioner was represented at his plea hearing by Ashley Pennington (hereinafter "Counsel"). During the guilty plea colloquy, the plea court went over with Petitioner the nature of the offenses, Petitioner's constitutional rights, and the plea negotiations. After that discussion the plea court asked Petitioner the following:

The Court: Mr. Chisolm, are you totally satisfied with your lawyer?  
Petitioner: Yes, Your Honor.  
The Court: Do you have any complaints at all about how he has handled your case?  
Petitioner: No, Your Honor.

App. 11, l. 25 – 12, l. 6.

The plea court asked Counsel if he discussed with Petitioner the nature of each offense and possible punishments, and then asked Counsel the following:

The Court: And [Petitioner] has requested after a review of the investigations that you have conducted on his behalf, he advised you and requested that you negotiate a sentence or the best arrangement that you could for him?  
Counsel: Yes, sir.  
The Court: The record now reflects the results of your efforts in that regard; is that true?  
Counsel: Yes, sir, it is.

App. 12, l. 25 – 13, l. 9.

Counsel informed the plea court that after his investigation he believed that the State would be able to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Petitioner was guilty of murder and that there was a significant benefit to Petitioner by the plea court accepting the negotiated sentence. The plea court then went over Petitioner's waiver of jury trial rights, to which Petitioner agreed and gave no indication that he would rather have a trial. App. 14, l. 16 – 15, l. 19. After the solicitor's recitation of the facts, the State asked Petitioner if he believed the jury would most probably find him guilty of murder, to which Petitioner replied, "I believe that's a strong possibility and I am not willing to take that chance." App. 21, ll. 9-11. Once again, Petitioner agreed that he was totally satisfied with Counsel and Counsel's advice. App. 22, ll. 9-12.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner explained that he had had several hearings in order to proceed pro se on his Berkeley County charges. Petitioner testified that Counsel visited him in prison, after he was convicted on Dorchester County charges, and explained to him that the State would be seeking the death penalty. He testified that he never asked Counsel to take over his case and never agreed to have his pro se status taken away. Petitioner further testified that if Counsel never took over his case, he never would have pled but would have gone to trial. App. 78, ll. 4-12.

Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that the State informed his office that Petitioner was pro se but may need representation because they intended to file a death penalty notice. App. 86, ll. 14-18. He testified that he met with Petitioner and explained that the State expressed their intent to seek the death penalty and Petitioner would need representation. App. 87, ll. 12-15. Counsel testified that upon asking Petitioner if he was interested in having representation, Petitioner "indicated immediately and unequivocally that he was interested in representation, that

he was unhappy with the way things had turned out when he represented himself in Dorchester County, and that he would appreciate the assistance." App. 87, ll. 17-23. Counsel testified that after filing the notice of representation, he visited Petitioner in prison "at least a half dozen or more" times and had several meetings with his family members. App. 90, l. 23 – 91, l. 5.

In the State's closing argument at the PCR hearing, the assistant Attorney General noted that in the ten months that elapsed between Counsel's initial meeting with Petitioner and Petitioner's plea, Petitioner never once filed any motion to relieve Counsel, nor was there anything in the record to indicate that Petitioner wanted to proceed pro se. App. 115, l. 18 – 116, l. 2. The record also reflects that Petitioner had relieved his previous plea counsel, evidencing the fact that he knew he had the right and ability to do so. See App. 86, ll. 22-25.

In the PCR Court's Order of Dismissal, the PCR Court found that Counsel was not ineffective, had provided thorough representation, and demonstrated the normal degree of skill, knowledge, professional judgment, and representation that are expected of an attorney who practices criminal law in South Carolina. App. 126. Nowhere in the PCR Court's Order did the Court specifically rule on the issue of whether Counsel was ineffective for impeding Petitioner's right to represent himself. See App. 118-130.

#### Analysis

Petitioner's argument is without merit. First, it is important to note that the PCR Court found Counsel's testimony to be credible and Petitioner's testimony to be not credible. App. 137. The PCR judge was in the best position to determine credibility and, as such, his findings must be given great deference. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct.

App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved.").

Next, Respondent would point out that the issue of whether Counsel was ineffective for impeding Petitioner's right to represent himself is not preserved for appeal. "To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court. If the issue is raised but not ruled on, it is not preserved for appeal." State v. Watts, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996). Only a matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed, otherwise, the appellate court would be exercising original jurisdiction. State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 204 S.E.2d 727 (1974). Although this issue was listed in Petitioner's PCR Application and discussed at the PCR hearing, the PCR Court never made findings or came to a ruling on this issue. Petitioner never filed a Rule 59(e) Motion to raise this issue to a ruling.

Nevertheless, this issue is without merit. Counsel provided credible testimony that Petitioner indicated immediately and unequivocally that he was interested in representation given that Petitioner was unhappy with the life sentence he was serving at the time as a result of his pro se representation in Dorchester County. Petitioner also testified at the plea hearing that he was satisfied with Counsel's representation and the way he handled Petitioner's case, whereby Counsel negotiated a life sentence to help Petitioner avoid a death penalty notice. Most importantly, Petitioner was familiar with his ability to have his counsel relieved and proceed pro se, as he had done in the past, yet he spent the entire duration of Counsel's representation (ten months) without evidencing any intent to relieve Counsel and proceed pro se.

Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to prove both prongs of the Strickland test – that Counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms and

that he was prejudiced by Counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of plea counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

**II. There is evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's ruling that Counsel was not ineffective in advising Petitioner of the lesser included offenses.**

How the Issue Was Raised

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing that Counsel did not discuss any lesser-included options to murder. App. 73, ll. 23-25. He testified that he has studied the lesser-included offenses since his plea and realizes now that he would not have pled guilty had he known about the possibility of a verdict on a lesser-included offense at trial. App. 74, ll. 1-6. He further testified that Counsel never discussed the lesser-included offense of involuntary manslaughter, which will provide a much lower sentence than murder. App. 75, ll. 4-9.

Counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he discussed with Petitioner self-defense and voluntary manslaughter as potential matters. App. 95, ll. 1-9. He testified that during investigation it became clear that there would be evidence that would show malice. App. 98, ll. 10-14. He further testified that Petitioner never told him that he had shot his nephew on accident. App. 103, ll. 16-20.

In the PCR Court's Order of Dismissal, the PCR Court found Petitioner's testimony concerning Counsel's failure to apprise Petitioner of lesser included offenses not credible, while finding Counsel's testimony credible. App. 128. The PCR Court also found that Counsel discussed self-defense and voluntary manslaughter with Petitioner, and that Counsel testified that self-defense would not have been a viable defense since the most credible evidence showed

Petitioner was angry after a fight with his brother and there was no evidence of Petitioner's brother being armed or threatening. The PCR Court further found that Counsel testified it was unlikely the jury would believe Petitioner was acting with provocation. App. 128.

#### Analysis

Petitioner's argument is without merit. There is certainly evidence of probative value to support the PCR Court's ruling. First, it is important to note that the PCR Court found Counsel's testimony to be credible and Petitioner's testimony to be not credible. App. 137. The PCR judge was in the best position to determine credibility and, as such, his findings must be given great deference. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the PCR judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); Menne v. Keowee Key Prop. Owners' Ass'n, Inc., 368 S.C. 557, 567, 629 S.E.2d 690, 696 (Ct. App. 2006) ("Because the appellate court lacks the opportunity for direct observation of the witnesses, it should accord great deference to trial court findings where matters of credibility are involved.").

The PCR Court found that Counsel discussed self-defense and voluntary manslaughter and believed that these would not be viable. Regarding involuntary manslaughter specifically, the PCR Court made no specific finding as to whether Counsel did not discuss this lesser-included offense. The PCR Court ruled that Counsel was not ineffective as to Petitioner's entire allegation of whether Counsel failed to discuss with him the lesser-included offenses of murder, but never specifically made findings or ruled upon whether Counsel was or was not ineffective concerning advising of involuntary manslaughter in particular. Petitioner never filed a Rule 59(e) Motion asking the PCR Court to make a finding concerning involuntary manslaughter. As such, Respondent would argue that the issue of Counsel's advice concerning involuntary manslaughter is not preserved for appellate review.

Despite not being preserved for appellate review, Respondent would argue that Petitioner's plea waived any defenses. Additionally, Petitioner cannot show that he was prejudiced by Counsel failing to discuss involuntary manslaughter. Counsel and Petitioner (through his plea colloquy) both agreed that the State had substantial evidence that would lead a jury to find Petitioner guilty of murdering his nephew. If Counsel indeed did not discuss involuntary manslaughter with Petitioner, Respondent would argue that it was not unreasonable to do so considering the facts were of such a nature that the State intended to seek the death penalty.

Accordingly, Petitioner has failed to prove both prongs of the Strickland test – that Counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms and that he was prejudiced by Counsel's performance. As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of plea counsel on this issue, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

## CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issue discussed above fully.